EKOLOGIA POLSKA (Ekol. pol.)	26	1	3–39	1978
---------------------------------	----	---	------	------

Teresa OZIMEK

Department of Hydrobiology, Institute of Zoology, University of Warsaw, Nowy Świat 67, 00-046 Warsaw, Poland

# EFFECT OF MUNICIPAL SEWAGE ON THE SUBMERGED MACROPHYTES OF A LAKE LITTORAL\*

ABSTRACT: The effect was determined of municipal sewage on the littoral submerged macrophytes of five lakes in the Masurian Lakeland. Transformations have been found in the species composition and structure of the macrophyte community, as well as changes in the phenology, morphology, biomass and chemical composition of selected macrophyte species in littoral habitats of a varying degree of pollution with municipal sewage. In habitats with the highest degree of pollution a specific system of zones (of elimination, degradation and stimulation) of the macrophytes has been distinguished. A field experiment has shown that due to the effect of high concentrations of municipal sewage, the degradation and elimination of the macrophytes are rapid. The amounts of macro- and microelements accumulated in the macrophytes were determined to evaluate the plants as possible biological filters.

KEY WORDS: Lake littoral, submerged macrophytes, water pollution, biological purification of waters.

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Area and methods
- 3. Characteristics of the habitats studied
- 4. General characteristics of macrophytes
- 5. Comparison of the vegetation of polluted and unpolluted habitats
  - 5.1. Species composition of macrophytes
  - 5.2. Macrophyte communities
  - 5.3. Distribution and biomass of the vegetation in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake
- 6. Effect of municipal sewage on selected macrophyte species in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake

[3]

- 6.1. General
- 6.2. Phenology and plant condition
- 6.3. Morphology and biomass of plants

\*Praca wykonana w ramach problemu węzłowego nr 09.1.7 ("Procesy decydujące o czystości

### powierzchniowych wód śródlądowych").

; .

6.4. Chemical composition of plants

7. Field experiment

8. Macrophytes and the protection of lakes against municipal pollutions

- 9. Discussion
- 10. Summary
- 11. Polish summary

12. References

## 1. INTRODUCTION

The effect of pollutions on aquatic vegetation can be considered from two sides, on the one hand the transformation and destruction of the macrophytes, and on the other hand to determine the role these plants may play in the processes of water purification. Studies on this problem contribute towards the creation of a basis for the protection and recultivation of the macrophytes which are an important biocenotic and environment-forming element of a lake littoral. They will also make it possible to determine the optimum method for cultivation of vegetation in different types of littoral.

The few investigations, carried out so far, of submerged and emergent macrophytes in lakes polluted by municipal and industrial sewage covered the species composition, distribution, and floristic changes (Forsberg 1964, 1965, Suominen 1968, Eloranta 1970,

4

Kurimo 1970, Uotila 1971). The effect of different sewage on the morphology, phenology and the biomass of submerged macrophytes was also analysed (Adams et al. 1971, Bernatowicz et al. 1974, Ozimek and Sikorska 1975, 1976, Pieczyńska, Sikorska and Ozimek 1975).

The possibilities to use emergent macrophytes in the process of water purification were analysed by S e i d e 1 (1956, 1966). She has found that emergent macrophytes, and especially *Schoenoplectus lacustris* (L.) Palla, not only persist in highly polluted waters, but show quicker increments there than in the unpolluted habitats. They take up and accumulate large amounts of nutrients, and even toxin substances, e.g., phenols, thereby contributing to the biological water purification.

Wolverton and McDonald (1975) have found that in the tropical and subtropical countries 'the *Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms may considerably aid the process of water purification. Culley and Epps (1973), as well as Sutton and Ornes (1975), suggest that it is possible to use for the same purpose pleustophytes such as: *Lemna*, *Spirodela*, *Wolffia*. These plants contain considerable amounts of nutrients and are easy to harvest by skimming surface with a rake or net.

As regards the submerged macrophytes, there have not been any wide-scope studies published concerning their usefulness in the processes of water purification. Of the few papers published it will be as well to mention that by Miks (1954), who has stated that a dense bottom vegetation may play the role of biological filters and thus contribute to the control of water pollution.

The aim of the present study was to determine the transformation of the littoral macrophytes under the influence of municipal sewage discharged into five lakes of the Masurian Lakeland. The occurrence, species composition, community structure and phenology,

condition,	morphology,	biomass	and	the	chemical	composition	of	five	selected	species of	of
------------	-------------	---------	-----	-----	----------	-------------	----	------	----------	------------	----

submerged macrophytes in a littoral of a varying degree of pollution by municipal sewage, and in an unpolluted one have been analysed.

THERE AND AND AND THE ME IN THE ME THE

# 2. AREA AND METHODS

The investigations were carried out in the Masurian Lakeland (northern Poland), in the years 1972–1975, intensive investigations being carried out in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake, and extensive ones in the littoral of lakes Bełdany, Śniardwy, Tałty and Miłki.

Mikołajskie Lake is a eutrophic, holomictic, with area 460 ha, an average depth 11 m and maximum depth 27.8 m. The length of the shoreline is 14 km. The littoral zone covers 87 ha which constitutes 19% of the lake surface. The samples were collected at seven polluted sites, and at five control sites situated in different parts of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake, outside the area affected by the municipal sewage. The distribution of sites has been presented in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Distribution of study sites in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake I-XII – sites

Table I. Characteristics of lakes investigated extensively

ann dan da g	Area	Depth	(m)	Development of	Number of study
Lakes	(ha)	maximum	mean	shore-line	sites
Śniardwy	10,970.0	23.4	5.9	2.2	6
Bełdany	940.0	46.0	10.0	3.2	4
Talty	762.0	51.0	13.6	3.2	5
Miłki	' 24.9	19.0	8.5	1.5	3



Table I contains a general characteristics of the lakes Beldany, Sniardwy, Talty and Milki (extensively studied) and the total number of study sites.

C h e m i c a l a n a l y s e s o f t h e w a t e r. The water samples for chemical analyses were collected with a 1-litre Patalas sampler at the distance 0.2, 5 and 10 m from the sewage outlets on polluted sites and at the same distances from the shore in the unpolluted habitats. Analyses were carried out according to the S t a n d a r d M e t h o d s ... (1963), and J u s t and H e r m a n o w i c z (1964). The following were determined: dissolved oxygen (Winkler's method), pH and electrolytic conductivity (electrometrically), calcium, sodium, potassium (flame photometer), phosphates, nitrates, ammonia (colorimetrically), chlorides (Mohr's method). To separate large-particle suspensions, the water for chemical analyses was filtered through a nylon net with a mesh-size of 0.1 mm. In Mikołajskie Lake water samples for chemical analyses were collected in the years 1972-1974, at monthly intervals, from May to September, and in the remaining lakes three times — in July and August 1973, and in July 1974. A total of 350 water samples was collected analysed.

Analyses of the macrophytes. At each site one profile 20 m wide was delimited, extending from the lake shore to the end of the shore terrace. Within this area the occurrence of individual species and macrophyte communities was recorded.

The phytosociological analysis was carried out by Braun-Blanquet's method (in Mikołajskie Lake – in July 1972, and in the remaining lakes – in July 1973). A total of 100 phytosociological records was made, 80 of which have been set up in tables. The classification of the plant associations was based chiefly on the papers of Tüxen (1956), Oberdorfer (1957), Kepczyński (1960, 1965), Dąmbska (1961), Matuszkiewicz (1967) and Tomaszewicz (1969). To determine the macrophyte biomass in the Mikołajskie Lake, plant samples were collected from frames of the size of  $0.25 \text{ m}^2$ , over a distance of 3-5 m from the lake shore to the end of the shore terrace at each site. The analyses were carried out every two weeks from May to October in the years 1972-1974. From depths greater than 1.5 m samples were collected by a diver. A total of 600 plant samples was collected. The above-ground parts of the plants, pulled out in the area delimited by the frame, were sorted by the species, and then after removing the periphyton and calcium deposits from them they were weighed on an analytical balance.

In the years 1972–1974, phenological observations of five selected macrophyte species were carried out every ten days during the period April to October.

Plant materials for chemical analyses were collected at monthly intervals from June to September 1973. A total of 500 samples was collected. The specimens were thoroughly cleaned – all periphyton and calcium deposits were removed from them – and then dried at  $70^{\circ}$ C. The content of each of the components was calculated per the dry weight of the plants which was determined simultaneously. The following were determined: total nitrogen (Kjeldahl's method), total phosphorus (colorimetrically), potassium, sodium, calcium (flame photometer), iron, magnesium, manganese and zinc (atomic absorption spectrophotometer ASA), chlorine (Husband and Godden's method). Analyses of the chemical composition of the plants were made after P e t e r s b u r g s k i (1954), P i p e r (1957) and J a c k s o n (1958).

Plants to be analysed for chlorophyll content were collected twice in July 1974. The specimens were thoroughly cleaned, and chlorophyll-a was determined, separately in leaves and stems, according to the standard method (Vollenweider 1969).

A field experiment was carried out to establish the type and magnitude of the transfor-

mations caused by the influence of municipal sewage in macrophytes that had not previously

been affected by it, and to determine the capability to regenerate of the plants subjected to a prolonged influence of the sewage. A detailed description of the experiment is given in Section 7.

## 3. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE HABITATS STUDIED

The polluted littoral habitats of the five study lakes are located along shores which are in contact with the buildings of towns, villages and tourism centres, which as a rule have no sewe-rage or sewage treatment plants. The lake littoral is polluted by municipal sewage over: 1% (Sniardwy, Bełdany), 5% (Tałty), 14% (Mikołajskie) up to 50% (Miłki) of the shore line. The studied environments are also polluted by household and dwelling wastes, the most intensive inflow of them exists in the summer, as a result of the presence of tourists in the Masurian Lakeland area. Municipal sewage is carried into the lakes in a centralized (pipes or ditches) and a non-centralized way. This is the usual way of leading sewage in the Masurian Lakeland. According to P i e c z y ń s k a, S i k o r s k a and O z i m e k (1975) over 50% of the 272 lakes found in this area are in contact with dwellings from which a considerable part of sewage is removed directly into the lakes. This method used for leading the sewage is similar to that found in the lakes covered by the present investigations.

According to Pieczyńska (1972), 220 t of dry weight of municipal sewage is discharged yearly into Mikołajskie Lake. This represents 83.6% of the total allochthonous matter. There are no such data for the remainder of the lakes.

Of the habitats not affected by municipal sewage the analysis covered sites in the vicinity of which there are wooded areas, pastures, or meadows. In both the polluted and unpolluted habitats in the shallow parts of the littoral the lake bottom is sandy-stony with an addition of mud, and in deeper parts — it is sandy-muddy.

The chemistry of littoral waters of Mikołajskie Lake was studied by: Planter (1970), Pieczyńska (1972), Kowalczewski (1975), Pieczyńska, Sikorska and Ozimek (1975), and Rybak and Sikorska (1976). The chemistry of littoral waters of Lake Śniardwy was analysed by Planter (1970), and lakes Śniardwy, Tałty and Bełdany – by Pieczyńska, Sikorska and Ozimek (1975). These papers also discussed polluted habitats showing distinct transformation of physico-chemical properties of water and they characterized a very high astatism which is related mainly to irregular sewage inflow and wave action.

The concentrations of the selected substances brought with the municipal sewage into the littoral of the five lakes are shown in Table II. Their highest content was recorded for sites with centralized sewerage outlet, where particularly high values of conductivity, ammonium nitrogen, chlorides, sodium and phosphates were obtained. At all sites the calcium content was the least variable.

The concentrations of the substances analysed showed a high degree of variation, which was connected mainly with the irregular inflow of sewage. Sites without centralized sewage outlet differed considerably in chemical composition of water from unpolluted sites only in Mikołajskie Lake.

The sites under study are characterized by considerable waves, due to which a fast dilution of the sewage begins already at a short distance from the sewage outlet. In Figure 2 examples INSTYTUT ZOOLOGII Polskiej Akademij Nauk Table II. Range of variation of water chemistry at the study sites (0.2 m from sewage outlet area, or shore) of five lakes in the Masurian Lakeland (May-September 1972, 1973, 1974)

a – polluted sites with centralized sewage outlet, b – polluted sites without centralized sewage outlet, c – unpolluted sites (control), – – no data, n. d. – not detected

Lakes and site	Lakes and sites		Н	Condu	ictivity	NI	H <sub>4</sub> +	NO	$D_{3}^{-}$	PO4		C1 <sup>-</sup>		K <sup>+</sup>		Na <sup>+</sup>		$Ca^{++}$	
				1		(n	1g/1)	(mg	(1)	(mg	5/1)	(m	g/1)	(m	1g/1)	(m	g/1)	(mg/	1)
	13.3	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.	min.	max.
	а	6.9	8.9	382	1341	0.20	130.00	n. <i>d</i> .	0.03	0.20	45.00	13.0	1156.0	11.0	37.0	11.7	1310.0	44.0	82.0
Mikołajskie	b	8.3	8.7	296	550	0.02	2.30	n. d.	0.20	0.30	1.40	8.3	29.8	2.8	6.2	7.9	12.4	40.0	59.0
	С	8.4	8.7	271	325	0.02	0.15	n. d.	0.04	n. d.	0.06	6.9	13.8	2.3	3.0	4.4	8.7	35.0	48.0
	а	7.1	8.5	274	585	0.80	6.50	0.01	0.03		-	12.0	38.0	2.3	4.4	11.0	24.0	53.0	98.5
Talty	b	7.9	8.3	280	330	0.02	0.10	0.01	0.02		-	9.2	15.9	2.1	3.3	2:6	4.6	48.0	52.5
	С	8.4	8.7	271	282	0.02	0.05	n. d.	n. d.	-	- 2	8.8	10.2	2.4	2.6	2.6	4.5	47.0	50.0
	a	7.8	8.1	285	523	0.60	10.20	-	-	£	-	12.8	43.0	2.4	6.0	4.6	8.5	39.0	53.0
Miłki	b	7,9	8.3	282	350	0.02	0.08	-	- /	-	_	9.0	16.2	2.4	4.8	4.0	4.9	39.0	46.0
	С	8.2	8.5	282	315	0.01	0.02	- 3	-	-	-	11.2	13.0	2.3	2.8	3.6	4.2	38.9	42.0
Śniardwy	Ь	8.3	8.5	276	290	0.01	0.04	n. d.	n. d.	_	_	9.8	12.0	2.1	2.3	3.6	4.8	37.5	49.0
Sinaruwy	С	8.3	8.5	274	282	- 23	-	-	-		- 0	8.2	9.6	2.2	2.4	3.5	4.3	37.0	39.0
Reklany	Ь	7.9	8.3	270	299	0.02	0.04	n. d.	n. d.	2 2	_	9.8	15.2	2.3	2.6	2.8	5.5	37.2	58.5
Delually	С	8.1	8.4	270	274	0.01	0.01	n. d.	n. d.	-	-	8.1	9.2	2.3	2.4	3.6	4.3	37.0	39.0
and the second s		-	1995 234				Charles Star			3 3	0	6				-24		18.2	100



Municipal sewage and submerged macrophytes



9

Fig. 2. Change of conductivity, and of chloride and ammonium ion concentration in selected sites in the littoral of Mikolajskie Lake (10 August 1973)

are given of changes in the conductivity, and in the concentration of ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  and chloride  $(Cl^-)$  ions at three sites in Mikołajskie Lake in August 1973. With the increasing distance from the place of sewage inflow the greatest differences in the concentration of the substances analysed were found on the sites with centralized sewage outlets. Similar regularities were found at the same types of site in the remaining lakes.

On the basis of the data presented the following site groups can be distinguished in the study area:

1. heavily polluted – sites with centralized sewage outlets (the lakes Mikołajskie, Tałty and Miłki),

2. slightly polluted - sites without centralized sewage outlets (Mikołajskie Lake),

3. very slightly polluted – sites without centralized sewage outlets (the lakes Sniardwy, Bełdany, Tałty and Miłki),

4. unpolluted - control sites, located outside the range of buildings (all the lakes discussed).

Among the five lakes studied the strongest transformation of the chemistry of littoral waters was found for the part of Mikołajskie Lake in the vicinity of the town Mikołajki. This is due to a high number of permanent inhabitants  $(3\,100)$  and tourists  $(12\,000)$  wighting the town in



# 4. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF MACROPHYTES

There is a comprehensive literature on the macrophytes of Mikołajskie Lake. The studies carried out so far dealt with their species composition, distribution, biomass, production, chemical composition, changes in the development of the indicatory species over the phenological cycle of the lake (Kowalczewski and Wasilewski 1966, Szczepański 1969, Kajak, Hillbricht-Ilkowska and Pieczyńska 1972, Pieczyńska 1972, Bernatowicz 1973, Szczepańska 1973, Kowalczewski 1975, Mochnacka-Ławacz 1975, Ozimek and Sikorska 1975, 1976, Pieczyńska, Sikorska and Ozimek 1975, Soszka 1975, Ozimek and Balcerzak 1976, Ozimek, A. Preis and K. Prejs 1976 and others).

In the Mikołajskie Lake the vegetation covers 87.0 ha (19% of the lake surface, 39.0 ha thereof being occupied by emergent vegetation, and 48.0 ha by submerged vegetation. In the middle of the vegetation season the biomass of the macrophytes was estimated at 4.3 t of dry weight per 1 ha of littoral area (O z i m e k and B a l c e r z a k 1976). This value was found to be similar to those recorded for Lake Tałtowisko – 4.1 t/ha (B e r n a t o w i c z and P i e c z y ń s k a 1965), higher, however, than the value found for Lake Mamry, on the average 2.8 t (B e r n a t o w i c z and R a d z i e j 1964), Lake Warniak – 2.2 t (B e r n a t o w i c z 1969), and Lake Śniardwy – 1.7 t of dry weight per 1 ha of overgrown area (B e r n a t o w i c z, P i e c z y ń s k a and R a d z i e j 1968) (these lakes are also situated in the

Masurian Lakeland).

Phragmites communis Trin., covering 32.3 ha, that is, .84% of the area occupied by all helophytes in Mikołajskie Lake, accounted for 90% of the emergent vegetation biomass of this lake (K o w a l c z e w s k i and W a s i l e w s k i 1966). The biomass of the submerged macrophytes was 2.1 t of dry weight per 1 ha of the overgrown area. Among them the highest biomass have: Characeae, Ceratophyllum demersum L., Elodea canadensis Rich., Potamogeton perfoliatus L. and Myriophyllum spicatum L. (K o w a l c z e w s k i 1975).

The vegetation of Mikołajskie Lake is of a low diversity, the small-lake phytolittoral type, according to Bernatowicz and Zachwieja (1966) classification, dominates there. In the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake a total of 41 macrophyte species was found, forming 17 plant communities (Ozimek and Balcerzak 1976).

In Lake Sniardwy the macrophytes cover 3,784.6 ha, that is 34.5% of the total lake surface, thereof 6.9% emergent macrophytes, and 27.6% submarged macrophytes. The macrophyte biomass was 1.7 t of dry weight per 1 ha of the overgrown area. Helophytes are found to occur up to the depth of 2 m, with *Phragmites communis* dominating among them. Submerged macrophytes occur up to a depth of 6 m, the dominating plants being Characeae, *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Elodea canadensis* (Bernatowicz, Pieczyńska and Radziej 1968).

In the Tałty-Ryńskie lakes, vegetation occupies 264.2 ha, that is, 14.4% of the lake surface, wherefrom 6.6% emergent macrophytes, and 7.8% submerged macrophytes (data from the Institute of Inland Fisheries). No detailed data are available on the species composition of the macrophytes of the lakes Tałty, Bełdany and Miłki. On the basis of observations it has been found that dominating among the emergent macrophytes of these lakes is *Phragmites communis*, whereas the following are abundant among the submerged macrophytes: *Potamageton* 

perfoliatus, P. pectinatus L., Characeae, Cen	eratophyllum demersum and	Myriophyllum spicatum.
---	---------------------------	------------------------

11

# 5. COMPARISON OF THE VEGETATION OF POLLUTED AND UNPOLLUTED HABITATS

## 5.1. SPECIES COMPOSITION OF MACROPHYTES

At the study sites in the littoral of the lakes Mikołajskie, Śniardwy, Bełdany, Tałty and Miłki only submerged macrophytes are found. The cause of the absence of emergent macrophytes is, among other things, the development of the shores, e.g., concreting, foot-bridges, etc. Depending on the form of the shore terrace, the submerged macrophytes occupy a belt from 15 to 100 m wide. At the study sites in the five lakes a total of 20 macrophyte species was found. Only one species, i.e., *Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius* Wallr., appeared to be strongly associated with polluted habitats: it was recorded only for the heavily polluted sites. A total of 11 species was found to be present in all types of site (though not in all the lakes). Of these the more numerous in the polluted habitats were: *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Myriophyllum spicatum*, *Potamogeton pectinatus*, *P. crispus* L., the remainder of species occurring in equal numbers at all sites. Of the remaining 8 species the following: *Heleocharis acicularis* R. et Sch., *Chara* sp. and *Potamogeton gramineus* L., were found to be present at very slightly polluted sites and in unpolluted ones (more abundant), whereas *Chara aspera* Willd., *Ch. vulgaris* L., *Nitellopsis obtusa* (Desvaux) J. Groves, *Potamogeton trichoides* Cham. et Schlecht., *P. pusillus* L. – only in unpolluted sites.

In heavily and slightly polluted sites the smallest number of species was found, relative to the unpolluted sites of the same lake (Table III).

The highest reduction in the number of species was noted for the polluted sites of Mikołajskie Lake, where the total number of species in the lake was 20 (O z i m e k and B a l c e r z a k 1976), and at the polluted sites only 11 species were found.

For the very slightly polluted sites and unpolluted ones, no significant differences were noted in the species composition of the macrophytes. As demonstrated previously, hardly any differences were found between these sites in respect of the chemical composition of the water.

Important for the determination of the individual species sensitivity to municipal sewage, apart from the species composition, is the analysis of their distribution. Figure 3 represents a diagram showing the distribution of macrophytes at heavily polluted sites, where with the distance from the area of sewage inflow the level of water pollution decreases. The closest to the area of sewage outlets *Ceratophyllum demersum*, *Potamogeton crispus* (Lake Miłki), *P. perfoliatus*, *Myriophyllum spicatum* (Lake Tałty) and *P. pectinatus* v. scoparus (Mikołajskie Lake) occurred.

Taking into account the frequency of the macrophytes in the study habitats of the five lakes, and the distribution of species in the heavily polluted sites, the following can be distinguished:

1. Species with low sensitivity to municipal sewage – Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius, Myriophyllum spicatum, Ceratophyllum demersum, Potamogeton crispus, P. pectinatus, P. perfoliatus. These occur only, or are found in larger numbers, in polluted sites, and moreover, in sites with a centralized sewage outlets they appear the nearest to the sewage outlets, that is, in habitats with the highest sewage concentration.

2. Species of medium sensitivity – Potamogeton lucens, P. compressus, P. obtusifolius, Batrachium circinatum, Elodea canadensis, Fontinalis antipyretica. Their frequency was the same at all sites. By comparison with the former species group, they grow at a longer distance

from the sewage outlets, that is, where the sewage is already diluted considerably.

Table III. Species composition and frequency of macrophytes in the study sites in the littoral of five lakes in the Masurian Lakeland Sites: a - heavily polluted, b - slightly polluted, c - very slightly polluted, d - unpolluted Occurrence: ++++ - very abundant, +++ - abundant, ++ - rare, + - very rare, - - absent

	М	ikołajskie			Talty			Miłki		Śniardwy		Beldany	
Species	a	, b	d	а	С	d	a	c	d	С	d	C	d
Potamogeton-pectinatus												•	
v. scoparius Wallr.	++++	_	-			-	-	-	-	-	- 3		-
Ceratophyllum demersum						•	15	. S					1
L.	++++	++++	+++	++++	++++ .	+++	+++	+++	++	++++	++++	+++++	+++
Elodea canadensis Rich.	+++	+++	. +++	+++	+++	++	++	++ .	++	++ .	++	+++ .	.+++
Myriophyllum spicatum L.	+++	++++	++	+++	+++	++	++	++	+	++	++	.++.	++
Fontinalis antipyretica L.	+++	+++	+++	++	++	++	++	++ .	÷+	++	++	+++	+++
Potamogeton pectinatus L.	_	++++	++	+++	+++	++ · · ·	·++	+++	++	++++	.++	+++	+++
P. crispus L.	++	++	+	++	· +	+	+++	++.	+ .	++	· · · + · · ·	++	+
P. perfoliatus L.	++++	++++	++++ ·	++	++	++	_	_		+++	+++	·++	++
P. compressus L.	+	+	+	.+ .	+	+	+	.+	•+	+	.+	+	+
Batrachium circinatum Fr.	++	++	++	+	+	+	-		_	+	+	+	+
Potamogeton lucens L.	++	+	+	÷	+	+	_	-	_	+++	++ ·	+	+
P. obtusifolius Mert et	27 13		NE BU									3116	
Koch	+	+	+	+	++	+ .		+	+	+	+	+	++
Heleocharis acicularis			129						12 19 1				1
R. et Sch.	1	_	+++		+	++	_	+	· ++	++	+++	+	+++
Chara sp.	_	_	+++		+++	. ++++		_	++	+++	++++	++ .	+++
Ch. aspera Willd.			+++++					_ *	_		_	_	
Ch. vulgaris L.	1	_	+++	_		- 2 3	_		_	_	_	_	
Nitellopsis obtusa (Des-				12.2					16 314				1.17
vaux) I. Groves	_	_	++		-	-			_			_	-
Potamogeton gramineus L.	_	Se Son	+		~	-	_	_	_	+	+	_	· _
P. trichoides Cham. et	2.38		1881										
Schlecht.	2.8-67		·	•				_ • •		120			+
P. pusillus L.		-	-			in the second		<del>.</del> .,					+ .



Municipal sewage and submerged macrophytes

Distance from sewage outlet area (m) Potamogeton pectinatus P. pectinatus v. scoparius P. perfoliatus Plucens More distant range of vegetation P. crispus P. compressus depending on the shape of shore P. obtusifolius terrace Elodea canadensis Myriophyllum spicatum Ceratophyllum demersum Batrachium circinatum Fontinalis antipyretica

Fig. 3. Diagram to show the distribution of macrophytes in heavily polluted sites in the littoral of Mikolajskie Lake, Lake Talty and Lake Milki

3. Very sensitive species - Heleocharis acicularis, Chara aspera, Ch. vulgaris, Chara sp., Nitellopsis obtusa, Potamogeton pusillus, P. trichoides, P. gramineus. These species occurred only at the very slightly polluted or unpolluted sites, their frequency in the latter being higher.

## **5.2. MACROPHYTE COMMUNITIES**

During earlier investigations of several sites in the littoral of Mikolajskie Lake it was observed that municipal sewage caused a transformation of the macrophyte associations (O z i m e k and Sikorska 1976).

Within the scope of the present research a phytosociological analysis has been carried out of the vegetation in the entire littoral of Mikołajskie Lake, and at selected littoral sites of the lakes Sniardwy, Bełdany, Tałty and Miłki.

In the study area three plant associations and four communities of the class Potametea, alliance Eu-Potamion have been identified. The Characeae communities were not analysed in detail.

General data on the occurrence, distribution, number of species and the cover of the communities have been presented in Table IV. Shallow parts of the littoral, up to a depth of 1.5 m, are occupied by phytocenoses of Potametum perfoliati, Potametum lucentis, of the communities with Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius, with Potamogeton gramineus and with Characeae, deeper parts (1.5-5.0 m) being occupied by phytocenoses of the community with Batrachium circinatum, association Ceratophylletum demersi, and community with Fontinalis antipyretica. In general outline, the distribution of the communities at the individual types of site did not differ. Because of their distribution, the most exposed to the sewage are the communities with Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius and Potametum perfoliati, which grow

nearest to the areas of sewage outlets.

Table IV. General characteristics of macrophyte communities from different habitats of five lakes in the Masurian Lakeland 1 - distance from shore or from sewage outlet area (m), 2 - depth (m), 3 - cover (per cent), 4 - number of species, - - absent

	Sites															
Communities		heavily po	lluted			slightly p	olluted		ve	ery slightly	pollute	d		unpollu	ted	4-1
	1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	1	. 2	3	4	1	2	.3	4
With P. pectina- tus v. scoparius	3	0.3-0.6	40	1							_	-	_			
Potametum per- foliati	5	0.5-0.8	40	1	0.5	0.2-1.0	70	3	0.5	0.2-1.2	80	5	0.5	0.2-1.5	90	6
Potametum luc- entis	7	0.7-1.5	100	9	0.5	0.5-1.5	80	5	0.5	0.2-1.5	80	5	0.5	0.2-1.5	80	6
With Batrachium circinatum	10	1.0-2.0	80	5	12.0	1.0-2.0	80	5	20.0	1.0-2.0	90	5	<b>20.0</b>	1.0-2.0	80	5
Ceratophyllecum demersi	11	1.5-3.0	90	4	15.0	1.5-3.5	90	4	25.0	1.5-3.5	80	4	25.0	1.5-4.0	90	4
With Fontinalis antipyretica	15	2.0-4.0	60	2	20.0	2.0-5.0	60	2	30.0	2.0-5.0	60	2	40.0	2.0-5.0	60	2
With Potamoge- ton gramineus	-		-	-	-	-		-	Q.5	0.2-0.7	70	4	0.5	0.2-0.7	70	4
With Chara- ceae	and the		-			-	N-I-I		0.2	0.2-1.2	100	3	0.2	0.2-1.5	100	4



Potametum lucentis



Fig. 4. A comparison of phytocenoses of macrophytes in different habitats of five lakes in the Masurian Lakeland

Potametum perfoliati

Ceratophylletum demersi d a C D a b



C

36-55 Coefficient of 56-75 similarity (%) 76-100 Sites: a - heavily polluted b- slightly c- very slightly , d- unpolluted



sewage

and

submerged

macrophytes

15

#### Teresa Ozimek

The community with Potamogeton pectinatus' v. scoparius was found only at heavily polluted sites; nearest to (3 m from) the sewage outlet areas. Noteworthy is that this community forms aggregations of a loose areal structure, and that the plants are in poor condition.

Potametum perfoliati was found at all types of site. As the pollution of the water increases, the number of species in Potametum perfoliati phytocenoses and the degree of cover decrease, and in heavily polluted sites nearest to the sewage outlet areas it is represented by a congeneric aggregation, the cover not exceeding 40%. Noteworthy, too, is the poor vitality of the plants. The coefficient of similarity<sup>1</sup> was calculated, using Kulczyński's (1940) formula (after Szafer and Zarzycki 1972), for phytocenoses of different sites, and it was found that the phytocenoses of the unpolluted, slightly and very slightly polluted sites were very similar (the coefficient of similarity being of the order 75-100%). A much lower level of similarity was found when comparing the phytocenoses of the above-mentioned sites and those of the heavily polluted ones, the coefficient of similarity not exceeding 45% (Fig. 4).

Subject to changes, with an increasing pollution of the water (from unpolluted to heavily polluted sites), are also Potametum lucentis phytocenoses, where an increase in the number of species and in the degree of cover can be seen. In the heavily polluted sites the plants are exuberant and with a dark-green colour of the leaves and stems. However, it should be noted that at heavily polluted sites Potametum lucentis phytocenoses always occurred at longer distances from the sewage outlet areas (7-10 m), than the former two communities (the community with Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius and Potametum perfoliati), where the sewage dilution is very high and the habitat is very fertile. A comparison of the similarity of the phytocenoses of this association at different sites has shown that it decreases with the increasing level of pollution (Fig. 4). Phytocenoses of Ceratophylletum demersi, of communities with Batrachium circinatum and Fontinalis antipyretica are always found at a fairly long distance from the shore (12-180 m), depending on the form of the shore terrace, the slope of which they colonize. At heavily polluted sites they occur in habitats where the dilution of the sewage is already considerable. No differences were found in the form of the phytocenoses of Ceratophylletum demersi and of communities with Batrachium circinatum and Fontinalis antipyretica at the particular types of site, where there is always a dominance of one species. The similarity between records (randomly selected) from individual site types, as calculated according to Kulczyński's (1940) formula (after Szafer and Zarzycki 1972), was high, from 83 to 100% (Fig. 4). Communities with Potamogeton gramineus and with Characeae are found only at very slightly polluted and unpolluted sites. Their forms at both site types are very similar. According to their occurrence, distribution, and form at the study sites, the submerged macrophyte communities distinguished can be divided into three groups:

16

1. a community that is characteristic only of heavily polluted sites - aggregation of Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius;

2. communities found on all types of site; their transformation at heavily polluted sites varies with the distance from the sewage outlet area, being:

a. negative - Potametum perfoliati,

b. positive - Potametum lucentis,

<sup>1</sup>Coefficient of similarity =  $S = \frac{100}{2} \cdot \left(\frac{c}{a} + \frac{c}{b}\right)(\%)$ , where: c – number of species common to both records, a – number of species in record 1, b – number of species in record 2.

c. not transformed – Ceratophylletum demersi, and communities with Batrachium circinatum, and with Fontinglis antipyretica;

3. characteristic only of unpolluted and very slightly polluted sites, communities with *Potamogeton gramineus* and Characeae communities.

## 5.3. DISTRIBUTION AND BIOMASS OF THE VEGETATION IN THE LITTORAL OF MIKOŁAJSKIE LAKE

The distribution and biomass of the vegetation in polluted and in unpolluted habitats of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake are shown in Figures 5–7. At heavily polluted sites, with a centralized outlets of municipal sewage, a distinct areal system of vegetation, characteristic only of this habitat, is found.



- Potamogeton perfoliaius -II- lucens
  II- pectinatus
  II- crispus
  II- compressus
  Elodea canadensis
- Batrachium circinatum Ceratophyllum demersum Fontinalis antipyretica Heleocharis acicularis Characeae

Fig. 5. Distribution and biomass of the vegetation in heavily polluted sites of the littoral of Mikolajskie Lake (July 1973)

In close vicinity of the sewage outlet area a zone devoid of macrophytes is found (A), extending up to 3 m from the sewage outlet at site III, or to 5 m at sites I, II and IV. In summer, *Sphaerotilus natans* Kütz. is noted there in large numbers. The water is characterized by a high concentration of the mineral and organic substances, many times higher than con-

entrations encountered in the next zones and at signify polluted and unpolluted sites. Ox	ygen
lepletion was often found there. Zone A has been named macrophyte elimination zone.	
2 – Ekol. pol., 26, 1	



Fig. 6. Distribution and biomass of the vegetation at slightly polluted sites in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (July 1973) Explanations as for Figure 5

Distance from shore (m)



Fig. 7. Distribution and biomass of the vegetation in unpolluted sites in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (July 1973) Explanations as for Figure 5

The next zone (B) is made up of congeneric aggregations of Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius, or Potamogeton perfoliatus. They occupy a belt 2-3 m wide. In the middle of the vegetation season, the biomass of the plants in this zone does not exceed 200 g of fresh weight per  $1 \text{ m}^2$ , being about six times lower than the mean biomass of the submerged macrophytes of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (O z i m e k and B a l c e r z a k 1976). Zone B has been named the macrophyte degradation zone.

The C zone – of macrophyte growth stimulation (about 7 m from the sewage outlet area)

covers a strip 3 m wide. In the Mikołajskie Lake it is colonized by Potametum lucentis. Density of vegetation is very high here, the size of individual plants is being large, which accounts for

the high level of biomass – on an average 1,620 g of fresh weight per 1 m<sup>2</sup>. This value is eight times higher than that for the former zone, and also nearly twice as high as the biomass value found for the sites with a slight pollution and those with no pollution (Figs. 5–7).

In summer, of the nine species found in zone C the following account for the major proportion of the biomass: Potamogeton lucens, P. perfoliatus, Elodea canadensis, Myriophyllum spicatum (Fig. 8). At distances greater than 10 m from the sewage outlets no evidence was found to indicate an influence of municipal sewage on the plants. The following occur there successively: a community with Batrachium circinatum, Ceratophylletum demersi, and a community with Fontinalis antipyretica, which, as has been demonstrated in the phytosociological analysis, have the same form in all habitats studied, and attain a similar biomass (Figs. 5-7). They grow outside the range of sewage activity.



+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++				
heavily	III , polluted	Sites: V VI d slightly pollu	ited unpolluted	
Poi	tamoget	on perfoliatus	🔀 Elodea canadensis	
	-1/-	pectinatus	Batrachium circinatum	1
E	-11-	lucens	Ceratophyllum demersu	Im
E	-11-	crispus	Characeae .	
	-11-	compressus	Heleocharis acicularis	
M	riophyll	um spicatum	differences and the start los	

Fig. 8. Contribution of different species to macrophyte biomass in selected sites in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (July 1973) Zones: B and C – for explanations see the text

At slightly polluted and unpolluted sites did not occur the above-described zonation. Starting from the shore, plants form multispecific associations. As regards the macrophyte biomass and its areal diversity, no significant differences could be seen between the slightly polluted sites and the control ones (Figs. 6, 7). However, differences were found in the contribution of the particular species to the biomass. At slightly polluted sites within the strip

0.5 up	to	10 m	from	the	lake	shore	(in	shallow	lake	parts)	the	highest	contribution	to	the
--------	----	------	------	-----	------	-------	-----	---------	------	--------	-----	---------	--------------	----	-----

#### Teresa Ozimek

biomass was recorded for: Potamogeton perfoliatus and P. pectinatus (Fig. 8). At the unpolluted sites, at the same distance from the shore, and at the same depth, Characeae always represent a fairly large proportion of the biomass, from 18 to 75% (Fig. 8). At larger distances (with an increasing depth) the differences between the heavily polluted, slightly polluted and unpolluted sites become blurred.



20

Fig. 9. Changes in macrophyte biomass from May to September in the years 1972-1974 in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake

Changes in biomass were observed during the vegetation season in the degradation and stimulation zones of four heavily polluted sites, of three slightly polluted, and five unpolluted ones. Presented in Figure 9 are mean biomass values found in these site groups during the particular months of the consecutive study years 1972–1974. In the degradation zone (B), the highest biomass was found in June, that is, in the first period of the growing season. Then a considerable decrease in biomass followed, this being connected with the earlier dying of plants

in	this	zone.	In t	he	stimulation	zone (C	) of	heavily	polluted	sites,	at	slightly	polluted,	and
ur	npolli	ated or	nes th	ne n	naximum va	lue of bio	oma	ss was fo	und in mi	d-July	7.			MARY RE

# 6. EFFECT OF MUNICIPAL SEWAGE ON SELECTED MACROPHYTE SPECIES IN THE LITTORAL OF MIKOŁAJSKIE LAKE

#### 6.1. GENERAL

In order to determine the effect of municipal sewage on each of the submerged macrophyte species, a phenological analysis was carried out, as well as investigations of the condition, morphology and chemical composition of the plants derived from three types of habitat: heavily polluted (of the degradation (B) and stimulation (C) zones), slightly polluted, and unpolluted. Five macrophyte species which occurred in different habitats, were analysed:

1. Potamogeton perfoliatus in zones B and C of three heavily polluted sites, in three slightly polluted, and in five unpolluted ones,

2. Potamogeton pectinatus in two slightly polluted sites, and in two unpolluted ones, and P. pectinatus v. scoparius in zones B and C of one heavily polluted site,

3. Potamogeton lucens in the C zone of two heavily polluted sites, and in three unpolluted sites,

4. Potamogeton crispus and Myriophyllum spicatum in the C zone of two heavily polluted sites, in two slightly polluted, and in two unpolluted ones.

The plants to be used for the above-mentioned studies were always collected from the same type of bottom, and at similar depths (to 1.2 m). The data presented below (except the data on the morphology and biomass) for each species are the mean values for the sites listed above.

### 6.2. PHENOLOGY AND PLANT CONDITION

The length of the vegetation season, and the development of aquatic plants depend on the phenological cycle of the particular species, as well as on the environmental conditions, e.g., temperature (K a t a n s k a j a 1969, B e r n a t o w i c z 1973 and others).

For the analysis of the effect of municipal sewage on the growth of the macrophytes the phenological cycles were observed of five species derived from habitats differing by the level of pollution. A comparative study was made of the plants present at the degradation and stimulation zones of heavily polluted sites (cf. Section 5.3.), and plants from slightly polluted and from unpolluted sites.

A disturbed phenological cycle and significant differences in the length of the vegetation season were found for *Potamogeton perfoliatus* and *P. pectinatus* v. scoparius, colonizing the degradation zone (B) of the heavily polluted sites (Fig. 10).

In this zone, Potamogeton perfoliatus occurs from May to the beginning of September. The plants begin to die as early as the beginning of July. On their leaves black necrotic spots appear, at first covering the top and the edges of a leaf, then extending over the whole leaf blade. In mid-July 70% of the leaves of all plants are affected by necroses. At this time the turions' formation was observed. In natural conditions turions appear only at the end of the vegetation season, and they serve the plant to endure the winter. S c u l t h o r p e (1967) reports that turions are the response of the plants to adverse conditions, e.g., low temperature, nutrient deficiency. The phenological observations carried out in the Mikolajskie Lake have shown that

the formation of turions, a specific defensive response of the plants, is also induced by
municipal pollutions. In mid-August, P. perfoliatus is already completely without leaves, and
only have blackand stores can be seen. In all the remaining polluted and unnelluted belitete
only bare, blackened stems can be seen. In all the remaining, polluted and unpolluted, nabitats

Teresa Ozimek



22

vegetative stage	Fructification
I buds	E dying
Flowering	vegetative stage with

a-zone B b- --- C sites heavily polluted c- sites slightly polluted d- - - unpolluted \* - Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius

Fig. 10. Phenological cycles of macrophytes in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (1972)

the growing season of P. perfoliatus is much longer - from April to November. The plants begin to die in September, at the same time also turions are formed (Fig. 10).

In Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius, growing in the degradation zone, leaf chlorosis and a loss of 50% of leaves were found in mid-July. In the B zone, Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius occurs only in its vegetative stage. In the remaining habitats the vegetation season of Potamogeton pectinatus lasts much longer, by about 45 days (Fig. 10).

For the remaining species: Potamogeton lucens, P. crispus and Myriophyllum spicatum, not found in the degradation zone (B), no significant differences were found in the duration of each of the phenological phases and the length of the whole growing period in the habitats studied (Fig. 10). The above-described regularities of the earlier dying of plants in the heaviest polluted habitats recurred in three consecutive growing seasons (1972, 1973, 1974).

To be able to compare the condition of the plants colonizing different habitats, a condition

coefficient was used, this coefficient being the ratio of the fresh weight of the leaves (	healthy,





Fig. 11. Change of macrophyte condition coefficient during the vegetation season of 1972 in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake

without necroses) to the fresh weight of the stems. A coefficient value equal to zero indicates that there are no healthy leaves, the vitality of the plants is low, and photosynthesis is almost completely inhibited. Obviously, the condition coefficient for plants with annual above-ground stems will vary during the vegetation season. A clearly lowered condition was found for *Potamogeton perfoliatus* and *P. pectinatus* v. *scoparius* colonizing the degradation zone (B) of heavily polluted sites, by comparison with the plants from the remaining habitats (Fig. 11). The change in the value of the condition coefficient for these species is very evident: from 2.0 in June to 0 in August – for *P. perfoliatus*, and from 2.5 to 0 in September – for *P. pectinatus* v. *scoparius*. The great differences in the maximum values of the condition coefficient of *P. pectinatus* between the plants of the stimulation zone (C) of the heavily polluted site and those of the remaining habitats result from the fact that at the former site the *scoparius* variety grows, this variety producing many stems and a large number of leaves. Teresa Ozimek

For Potamogeton crispus and Myriophyllum spicatum, which do not occur in the degradation zone, no differences were found in the variation of the condition coefficient during the vegetation season in any of the study habitats (Fig. 11).

The above regularities were found in the consecutive study years.

### 6.3. MORPHOLOGY AND BIOMASS OF PLANTS

In the relevant literature there is little information on the effect of pollution upon the morphology of aquatic plants (E l o r a n t a 1970, A d a m s et al. 1971). During the analysis of the plant communities in Mikołajskie Lake attention was given to the exuberant growth of the macrophytes present in the stimulation zone (7–10 m from the sewage outlet area) of the heavily polluted sites. To check if the plants of this zone differ significantly from the plants (belonging to the same species) growing at slightly polluted and unpolluted sites an analysis was carried out of the morphological characteristics of five species. This analysis covered the stem length and foliage density, as well as the colour of the leaves and stems, and the biomass of the individual shoots, in the middle of the vegetation season (July 1972–1974).

Table V. Morphological data and biomass of Potamogeton perfoliatus in the littoral of Mikolajskie Lake (average for 30 plants, July 1973)

24

	Length of		Biomass of shoots			
Sites	stems (cm)	Number of leaves	fresh weight (g)	V (%)*		
Heavily polluted (zone C) II IV	$81.0 \pm 4.4 \\78.5 \pm 5.0 \\80.0 \pm 4.5$	$29 \pm 1 \\ 28 \pm 2 \\ 29 \pm 1$	$7.3 \pm 0.3 \\ 6.4 \pm 0.7 \\ 7.5 \pm 0.3$	16.4 34.2 20.0		
Slightly polluted VI VII	$\begin{array}{r} 42.3 \pm 5.6 \\ 38.0 \pm 3.1 \\ 42.0 \pm 5.4 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 25 \pm 2 \\ 21 \pm 2 \\ 25 \pm 2 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r} 3.1 \pm 0.6 \\ 2.7 \pm 0.4 \\ 2.9 \pm 0.5 \end{array}$	66.5 52.8 62.3		
VII IX Vinpolluted X XI XII	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$21 \pm 2 \\ 23 \pm 2 \\ 22 \pm 2 \\ 24 \pm 2 \\ 32 \pm 2 \\ 32 \pm 2$	$2.2 \pm 0.5 \\ 2.3 \pm 0.4 \\ 2.7 \pm 0.2 \\ 2.3 \pm 0.3 \\ 2.9 \pm 0.5$	65.4 65.6 37.0 65.2 48.3		

\* $V = \frac{\sigma}{2} \cdot 100, \sigma$  – standard deviation.

Potamogeton perfoliatus. In the zone of stimulation of macrophyte growth (C) of the heavily polluted sites this species attains a considerably larger size of the vegetative parts (leaves and stems) than in the remaining habitats. The stem length ranges from 78.5 to 81.0 cm, the leaf length from 2.5 to 6.8 cm, and the breadth from 1.5 to 3.1 cm. In this zone, both the leaves and the stems are of a dark-green colour. At slightly polluted and unpolluted sites, the leaves of *P. perfoliatus* are thick, "leather-like", light-green with a brown margin.

Their length varies	between 2.2 and	1 4.8 cm, and	their breadth between	1.2 and 2.2 cm. The
	er of loaves.			grows, this variety pro

stems are half the length of those in the zone of plant growth stimulation (C) of the heavily polluted sites (Table V).

The stems are of a whitish-pink colour, fragile and breaking easily. At the slightly polluted and at unpolluted sites, the values of the biomass of the individual shoots of P. perfoliatus are similar, being about half the biomass value for the plants from the C zone of the heavily polluted sites. The coefficient of biomass variation (V) was higher (Table V).

The shoot biomass and stem length of *Potamogeton perfoliatus* in all the habitats were compared by using the Student *t*-test at the level of significance 0.01. A statistical non-significance of differences was found within site groups homogeneous in respect of the level of pollution, as also in the comparison of plants from slightly polluted and unpolluted sites. However, statistical differences were found when comparing plants from heavily polluted sites and from slightly polluted ones, and from heavily polluted and unpolluted sites.

It may, therefore, be stated that municipal sewage of the concentration at which it reaches the stimulation zone (C) of the heavily polluted sites in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake, has a significant effect on *Potamogeton perfoliatus*, causing its exuberant growth and high biomass values. Moreover, with regard to stem length and shoot biomass, the plants found in the C zone show a lesser variation.

Polamogeton pectinatus. In the Czone of the heavily polluted sites a profusely branched scoparius variety is found with a rich foliage; it attains the largest size and biomass, and at the same time the plants are not much varied (Table VI). The leaves and stems are of a dark-green colour.

under ein Klüt enderstleichte beleichte all give werde wers wers inche freim 4010 to 868

Table VI. Morphological data and biomass of *Potamogeton pectinatus* in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (average for 40 plants, July 1973)

·For explanation of V see Table V

Sites		0.00.10 0.00	N	Biomass o	Biomass of shoots				
		of stems (cm)	Number of leaves	fresh weight (g)	V (%)				
Heavily polluted ( zone C)*		36.5 ± 0.9	98 ± 5	$6.4 \pm 1.0$	20.9				
Slightly polluted	V VI	$22.6 \pm 1.9$ $24.5 \pm 2.2$	$37 \pm 2$ $42 \pm 3$	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.0 \pm 0.1 \\ 1.2 \pm 0.2 \\ \end{array} $	55.0 58.4				
Unpolluted	VIII IX	$12.9 \pm 1.4$ 18.2 ± 1.6	$35 \pm 3$ $36 \pm 3$	$0.8 \pm 0.1$ 1.0 ± 0.1	54.2 55.4				

\*Potamogeton pectinatus v. scoparius.

At the slightly polluted and unpolluted sites, *Potamogeton pectinatus* is of similar form. Its biomass varies between 0.8 and 1.2 g; the leaves are fairly diverse, their diversification being more than twice that found for the heavily polluted site (Table VI).

When comparing, by means	of the Student t-test (at the significa	ince level 0.01), the shoot
biomass and the stem length	of the plants from slightly polluted	and unpolluted sites, no
· · ·		
		•

significant differences were found, but when comparing plants from heavily polluted sites and those from the rest of sites, statistically significant differences were found.

Table VII. Morphological data and biomass of *Potamogeton lucens* in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (average for 30 plants, July 1973) For explanation of V see Table V

invincent invitation 1 101	Length of	Number of	Biomass of shoots			
Sites	stems (cm)	leaves	fresh weight (g)	V (%)		
Heavily polluted (zone C)	I I V	$107.7 \pm 15.2$ $97.2 \pm 11.3$	$14 \pm 2$ 9 \pm 1	$17.6 \pm 2.4$ $12.1 \pm 2.0$	51.7 62.8	
Unpolluted	X XI XII	$56.8 \pm 9.7 \\ 33.4 \pm 4.6 \\ 25.3 \pm 3.1$	$   \begin{array}{r}     11 \pm 3 \\     8 \pm 1 \\     8 \pm 1   \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r} 8.8 \pm 1.8 \\ 8.6 \pm 0.9 \\ 5.0 \pm 0.6 \end{array}$	81.8 51.2 40.0	

Potamogeton lucens. It is in the C zone of the heavily polluted sites that this species attains the largest size and biomass (Table VII). In this zone, the leaves and stems of the plants are dark-green in colour, whereas in the remainder of the habitats the leaves are light-green with a brown margin, the stems being of a white-green colour. The variation of the

biomass of the individual shoots within all the study sites was high, from 40.0 to 81.8% (Table VII). Statistically significant differences were found between the plants from heavily polluted sites (zone C) and from unpolluted sites.

Potamogeton crispus. Plants derived from three types of site do not differ significantly in respect of their morphology. The stem lengths, the numbers of leaves, and the biomass values of the individuals are similar. They do not differ in colour either, their leaves being of a green colour with a brown margin, the stems – of an olive-green colour.

*Myriophyllum spicatum*. No significant differences in the morphology and biomass were found among plants derived from three types of site. The variation of shoot biomass, too, was similar in all habitats.

The above regularities discussed for five species were found also in 1972 and 1974.

The effect of the same concentration of municipal sewage varies from species to species. Diluted municipal sewage was found to have a positive effect on the morphology and biomass of three out of the five species studied (*Potamogeton perfoliatus*, *P. lucens* and *P. pectinatus*). *Potamogeton crispus* and *Myriophyllum spicatum* did not differ in respect of their morphology and biomass in any of the habitat types.

#### 6.4. CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF PLANTS

There is an extensive literature on the content of the essential macro- and microelements in the macrophytes (G o r h a m 1953, C a i n e s 1965, Allen b y 1966, 1968, B o y d 1968, 1970a, 1970b, B e r n a t o w i c z 1969, II u t c h i n s o n 1975, and many others). It deals with macrophytes derived from unpolluted habitats. S e i d e 1 (1966) found a high content of macro and microelements in experiment macrophytes found in habitate affected by



		Per cent									
Species Sites	N	Р	K	Na	Ca	Mg	Cl	Fe	Mn	Zn	
Potamogeton perfoliatus	heavily polluted (zo- né B) heavily polluted (zo- ne C)	2.30 2.60	0.80 0.76	2.70 2.20	0.80 0.50	1.70 2.00	1.35 1.40	2.35 1.20	0.08 0.05	0.01	0.008
slightly polluted unpolluted	slightly polluted unpolluted	2.28 2.10	0.65 0.45	1.82 1.30	0.39 0.40	2.10 1.82	1.21 0.80	0.80 0.55	0.04 0.04	0.04 0.06	0.001 0.001
Potamogeton pectinatus	heavily polluted (zo- ne B) heavily polluted (zo- ne C) slightly polluted unpolluted	3.12 3.60 3.10 3.20	0.80 0.80 0.50 0.90	$1.95 \\ 2.10 \\ 2.50 \\ 3.00$	$     1.60 \\     1.15 \\     1.00 \\     0.72   $	1.60 1.75 2.23 2.70	1.12 1.30 0.60 0.70	2.05 1.35 1.10 0.80	0.09 0.12 0.07 0.10	0.03 0.05 0.03 0.04	0.007 0.007 0.003 0.004
Potamogeton lucens	heavily polluted (zo- ne C) unpolluted	3.00 1.45	0.61 0.40	2.70 2.55	1.00 0.60	2.12 2.00	1. <b>50</b> 0.70	1.35 0.65	$0.06 \\ 0.02$	0.02 0.03	0.003 traces
Potamogeton crispus	heavily polluted (zo- ne C) slightly polluted unpolluted	2.55 2.40 1.90	0.62 0.59 0.60	2.50 1.90 1.90	$0.60 \\ 0.35 \\ 0.35$	2.75 1.65 1.70	0.72 0.50 0.60	$     \begin{array}{r}       1.25 \\       0.72 \\       0.65     \end{array} $	0.09 0.06 0.05	0.02 0.04 0.04	0.005 0.003 0.002
Myriophyllum spicatum	heavily polluted (zo- ne C) slightly polluted unpolluted	2.65 2.25 2.00	0.40 0.35 0.35	1.65 1.60 1.50	$1.05 \\ 0.60 \\ 0.45$	2.50 2.60 2.60	0.80 0.60 0.60	$1.26 \\ 0.70 \\ 0.65$	0.10 0.05 0.05	0.03 0.04 0.05	0.004 0.002 0.002

Table VIII. Chemical composition of macrophytes in different habitats of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (July 1973)



## Teresa Ozimek

In order to determine the magnitude of the effect of municipal sewage upon the chemical composition of submerged macrophytes. an analysis was carried out for the content of seven macroelements (nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, sodium, calcium, magnesium and chlorine), and of three microelements (iron, zinc and manganese) in five species derived from different habitats in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake. The results obtained in July 1973 have been presented in Table VIII. The presentation has been restricted to the data for one month, because, as had been found previously, the content of most elements does not vary significantly during the vegetation season (T. Ozimek – unpublished data).

It has been found that in all the plants under study municipal sewage causes a considerable increase in the tissue content of chlorine, sodium, zinc and iron, and to a lesser extent of magnesium. As the pollution increases, the levels of these elements in the plants grow. For instance, the content of chlorine in plants from the slightly polluted sites was about 1.3 times as high as in the plants from the unpolluted sites, and already twice as high in the plants from the stimulation zone, whereas in the plants from the degradation zone of the heavily polluted sites as much as three times as high as in the plants from the unpolluted sites. A reverse relationship was found for manganese, the content of which in the macrophytes was found to decrease as the level of pollution increased. This is probably due to the fact that as a result of a high iron content the uptake of manganese by plants is made difficult (Curtis and Clark 1958). As regards the remainder of the elements, rather a considerable increase was found of potassium and phosphorus in Potamogeton perfoliatus, slight differences in Potamogeton lucens, P. crispus and Myriophyllum spicatum as the pollution of the water increased, and a reverse relationship in Potamogeton pectinatus. As far as calcium is concerned, only in Potamogeton crispus was a higher content found at the polluted sites, whereas all the other species showed either no differences, or a lower content at the polluted sites.

When comparing the content of elements in the different species, it was found that, apart from a few exceptions, the chemical composition of different species derived from the same habitats was very similar.

The level of nitrogen, phosphorus, calcium, potassium, iron, manganese and zinc in the plants studied (even those from the degradation zone) was within the range reported by various authors for submerged macrophytes derived from unpolluted habitats, but about twice as high content of sodium and magnesium was found in plants from heavily polluted sites as the values reported by other investigators (Harper and Daniel 1934, Nelson and Palmer 1938, Gorham 1953, Gerloff and Krombholz 1966, Boyd 1968, 1970b, Bernatowicz 1969, Hutchinson 1975).

In addition to the analysis of the macro- and microelements, the content of chlorophyll-a was determined. In the morphological description it has been mentioned that plants growing in habitats varying in the level of pollution differ by the colour of their leaves and stems. These differences were particularly marked in *Potamogeton perfoliatus*, *P. pectinatus* and *P. lucens*. The analysis has shown the largest amounts of chlorophyll-a in the leaves and stems of the species enumerated, growing in the C zone of heavily polluted sites (Fig. 12). The leaves of *P. perfoliatus* and *P. pectinatus*, derived from the B zone of heavily polluted sites were found to contain less chlorophyll-a, relative to the plants from the other habitats (Fig. 12). In these species numerous leaf chloroses and necroses occurred. No significant differences in the content of chlorophyll-a were found between plants from slightly polluted and unpolluted sites. The above regularities have been found also for chlorophyll-b (T. Ozimek – unpublished data).

Municipal sewage, in the	concentrations found in zones B and C of the heavily polluted	sites
in the littoral of Mikołajskie	Lake, has a significant effect on the chlorophyll content in	n the

### Municipal sewage and submerged macrophytes



Fig. 12. Chlorophyll-a content in fresh mass of macrophytes in the littoral of Mikolajskie Lake (1973)

leaves and stems of some macrophyte species, and indirectly upon the photosynthetic capabilities of the plants.

# 7. FIELD EXPERIMENT

A field experiment was made to determine the type and the rate of the transformations of macrophytes under the influence of municipal sewage, and to estimate the possibility to regenerate of plants derived from polluted habitats. The experiment consisted in the transplantation of *Potamogeton perfoliatus* and *P. lucens* from an unpolluted littoral to a heavily polluted littoral, and vice versa. Some of the results from the experiments, in which *Potamogeton perfoliatus* was transplanted, have been presented in earlier papers (O z i m e k and S i k o r s k a 1975, 1976).

The experiment was carried out at two heavily polluted sites, with a centralized sewage outlets (I and IV), and at one unpolluted site (XI) in Mikołajskie Lake. These sites have a similar type of bottom (sandy-stony) and a similar wave action intensity.

The plants, carefully pulled out, together with their rhizomes and roots, from the unpolluted littoral were (after being weighed and marked) replanted in the sites affected by sewage, at distances 1, 2 and 5 m from the sewage outlet area towards the middle of the lake. In the unpolluted site, plants from the degradation zone (*Potamogeton perfoliatus*) and the stimu-

lation zone (P. lucens) were replanted.

Three replications of the experiment were made: in June, July, August 1973. To check for the effect of the transplantation itself on the growth of the macrophytes, plants were transplanted within the same sites. No effect was found – after their transplantation within the same site the plants appeared to grow just as the untransplanted plants. Each time 60 plants were transplanted. Plants for study were collected every two days: changes were observed in the colour of the leaves, stems and rhizomes, and in the biomass. Simultaneously, investigated were also plants currently present in a polluted littoral and in an unpolluted one.

After being transplanted from the unpolluted littoral to the elimination and degradation zones of the heavily polluted sites, Potamogeton lucens failed to colonize the zones. Plants replanted at a 1 m distance from the sewage outlet area survived for 14 days, those replanted at 3 m for 20 days, and those at 5 m for 30 days, whereafter their complete destruction followed. Likewise, after being transplanted from the stimulation zone closer to the sewage outlet area. Potamogeton lucens became, after a similar period, completely eliminated by the sewage. The negative effect of the sewage on the transplanted plants was manifested primarily by necroses of the leaves, stems and rhizomes. The earliest to be subject to the blackening and destruction were the rhizomes, the lower leaves and the ligules. It has also been found that affected by necroses at a similar rate were leaves with evidence of grazing and mined stem parts. Mechanical damage to the tissues facilitated the absorption of sewage. The damage led to a decrease in the biomass of the transplanted plants; for instance, during the 14 days the biomass losses to the plants replanted at 1 m distance from the sewage outlet area amounted on the average to 61% (Fig. 13). In P. perfoliatus the negative changes caused by the municipal sewage are faster than in P. lucens. After being transplanted to the polluted littoral, P. perfoliatus survived for about half the period of survival of P. lucens, and the rate of destruction of the plants was faster (Fig. 13). This is connected with the morpho-anatomy of the species. The stems and rhizomes of P. perfoliatus are thinner, so they are more vulnerable to damage, and are more easily broken by the waves.

The longer the distance from the sewage outlet area, the longer was the period after which necroses and losses to biomass followed, and the period of survival of the plants. This is related to the dilution of the sewage with the distance from its outlets into the lake.

After being transplanted from the stimulation zone (7-10 m from the sewage outlet area) to the unpolluted littoral *Potamogeton lucens* colonized the littoral. The plants grew, increasing the density and the area occupied. The biomass of the transplanted plants increases, and after the 31 experimental days it appeared to have almost doubled (Fig. 14). The transplanted plants survived until October, like those plants which grew there permanently. A comparison of the biomass changes in *Potamogeton perfoliatus* and *P. lucens* has shown that the growth rate of the biomass of *P. lucens* was faster. In the case of *P. perfoliatus*, the individuals transplanted were of a very poor condition, due to which during the first days of the experiment there even occurred losses to the biomass (Fig. 14). After being transplanted to the unpolluted littoral, *P. lucens*, like *P. perfoliatus*, became renewed during the next vegetation season, but no growth was found in the plants transplanted to the littoral affected by the sewage.

On the basis of the field experiment it has been concluded that the absence of vegetation in the elimination zone is caused by the influence of the municipal sewage, and that the degeneration of the macrophytes is fast. The experiment has also shown that there exist considerable regenerative possibilities in the two pondweed species analysed.



Fig. 13. Biomass changes in pondweeds following transplantation from unpolluted littoral to a polluted one, at different distances from sewage outlet area



Fig. 14. Biomass changes in pondweeds following transplantation from polluted littoral to unpolluted littoral

.

Teresa Ozimek

# 8. MACROPHYTES AND THE PROTECTION OF LAKES AGAINST MUNICIPAL POLLUTIONS

Taking into account the possibility, suggested in the literature, of using macrophytes as biological filters (S e i d e l 1956, 1966, C u l l e y and E p p s 1973), a calculation was made of the amount of macro- and microelements accumulated by the macrophytes studied. The estimation has been made for the vegetation growing in the particular types of habitat in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake. The data relate to the period of maximum biomass value of the plants, found in each of the habitats (in the degradation zone – June, in the remaining habitats – July). In these months, too, the highest content of macro- and microelements in the plants was recorded (T. Ozimek – unpublished data).

Table IX. Content of selected elements in the macrophytes in various habitats of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (June\* and July 1973)

Sit	es	Content in dry weight	N	Р	K	Na	Ca	Mg	Cl	Fe	Mn	Zn
	zone B*	mg/g mg/m <sup>2</sup>	30 600	3 60	30 600	12 200	12 300	10 200	15 300	0.7 14.0	0.2 4.0	0.05 0.10
Heavily	zone C	mg/g	30	3	20	10	25	12	10	0.9	0.2	0.04
polluted		mg/m <sup>2</sup>	4,800	480	3,200	1,600	4,000	1,920	1,600	144.0	32.0	6.4
Slightly polluted		mg/g	20	2	20	5	30	5	5	0.5	0.4	0.02
		mg/m <sup>2</sup>	1,800	180	1,800	450	2,700	450	450	45.0	36.0	1.8
Unpolluted		mg/g	20	2	20	5	30	5	4	0.5	0.5	0.02
		mg/m <sup>2</sup>	1,400	140	1,400	350	2,100	350	280	35.0	35.0	1.4

The smallest amounts of macro- and microelements accumulated in the plants per  $1 \text{ m}^2$  are found in the degradation zone (B), the largest in the stimulation zone (C) of heavily polluted sites (Table IX). The differences, which are considerable, result from the large differences in the biomass of the plants (the content of macro- and microelements in the plants differs slightly).

In the stimulation zone, by comparison with the degradation zone, the macrophytes attain eight times as high a biomass value.

Although the highest values of the accumulation of elements were found in the stimulation zone of the heavily polluted sites, these values (Table IX) are lower than those reported by S e i d e l (1966) for emergent macrophytes. For instance, according to the above author, *Schoenoplectus lacustris* accumulates 6,720 mg of phosphorus, 3,290 mg of magnesium, 10,300 mg of potassium and 21,170 mg of sodium per 1 m<sup>2</sup> (on experimental plantations). The differences result from better possibilities to accumulate a number of elements, and a higher biomass values attained by *Schoenoplectus lacustris* per 1 m<sup>2</sup> than by the submerged It has been calculated that the vegetation of the whole polluted part of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake (about  $30,000 \text{ m}^2$ ) contains, in the middle of the vegetation season, about 60 kg of phosphorus, 480 kg of potassium, 600 kg of nitrogen, 192 kg of sodium, 14.4 kg of iron. According to G  $\acute{o}$  r s k i and R y b a k (1974), every year 1,362 kg of phosphorus is brought into the Mikołajskie Lake with the municipal sewage, that is, about one twentieth of the phosphorus flowing in with the municipal sewage is accumulated in plants from polluted habitats.

In the case of high concentrations of municipal sewage the submerged vegetation cannot play a significant role in the process of selfpurification of the waters. It accumulates a relatively small amount of nutrients and becomes quickly destroyed (see the description of the macrophytes from the degradation zone). Submerged macrophytes might successfully play the role of biological filters if the quantities of municipal sewage discharged into the given lake were small. In habitats with a considerable dilution of the sewage they grow exuberantly, attaining high values of biomass, and thereby accumulate fairly large quantities of nutrients (see the description of the macrophytes from the stimulation zone). Important, too, is the fact that they are present for the same length of time as the plants in the unpolluted habitats. In order to "take back" the excess amounts of nutrients from the environment, it would be possible to harvest the plants at the end of the vegetation season, when in the natural conditions plants with annual above-ground stems begin to die. This procedure would prevent this important element of the littoral biocenose from being prematurely destroyed. If the harvesting of macrophytes is not applied, they can all the same contribute to the inactivation of part of the nutrients, because some of the macrophytes after their death get into the bottom sediments and are not included in the cycling of the matter in the lake.

# 9. DISCUSSION

The littoral habitats in the study area are subject to a varying transformation, depending on the amount, concentration, and the method and regularity of sewage discharge, as also indirectly on such environmental factors as, for instance, the wave action which causes a rapid dilution of the sewage. At a very low level of pollution no transformation of the vegetation could be seen, at a low level – there was primarily a change in the species composition, and at a high level – changes in the species composition and structure of the plant communities, and of the phenology, condition, morphology and chemical composition of each of the species.

D a m b s k a (1965) has found that the vegetation of the lakes with a low trophic level, e.g., the lobelia lakes, is very sensitive even to slight changes in the chemistry of the water. No such relationship was found in the case of the vegetation studied in five eutrophic lakes, which does not become transformed as a result of small changes in the chemistry of the water, caused by the inflow of municipal sewage. This indicates that the vegetation of the eutrophic lakes is much less sensitive to slight changes in the environment than is the vegetation of the lakes with poor trophic conditions.

F o r s b e r g (1964, 1965) has found that pollutions, among other things, cause the change from the dominance of the stoneworts to the dominance of the pondweeds in lakes. This corresponds to the results obtained from studies of the vegetation of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake. A comparison of the present distribution of the vegetation in Mikołajskie Lake with the

results obtained by	В.	Solińska	in	1962	(unpublished	data)	has	shown	a	disappearance	of	Ē
---------------------	----	----------	----	------	--------------	-------	-----	-------	---	---------------	----	---



#### Teresa Ozimek

species of the family Characeae and a stronger growth of the pondweeds in habitats which border on the town Mikołajki (defined as a slightly polluted sites). Since the time B. Solińska carried out her studies the population of the town Mikołajki has increased, and there has been a considerable increase in tourism in the areas adjacent to the lake, and consequently the amount of sewage and the degree of the pollution of waters have increased. Moreover, the conclusion can be drawn that with a low pollution of water the changes in the environment are great enough to cause the elimination of species sensitive to pollution, but not great enough to cause transformations of the less sensitive plant species that grow there. These species do not show any differences in their phenology, condition, morphology, or significant differences in the chemical composition, relative to the plants in the unpolluted habitats.

In heavily polluted habitats with a centralized sewage outlets Pieczyńska, Sikorska and Ozimek (1975) have distinguished two zones: (1) a saprotrophic zone, being under the direct action of sewage and characterized by the predominance of decomposition processes, elimination, or by highly reduced numbers and biomass of the various groups of organisms (benthos, fauna colonizing stones, periphyton algae), and (2) a polytrophic zone, fertilized by diluted sewage, and with frequent outbreaks of organisms. A similar differentiation is found in the case of the macrophytes. Four stages of the action of sewage on the vegetation are observed as the concentration of the sewage decreases: elimination, degradation, stimulation of growth, and no influence. The range of the particular stages of influence varies with the different groups of organisms, depending on the multiplication rate, and on the morpho--anatomical and physiological characteristics of these organisms. For instance, the zone of mass growth of periphyton algae is found closer to the sewage outlets (2-3 m) than the zone of stimulation of the macrophytes (7-10 m). The zones of elimination, degradation and of the stimulation of macrophyte growth were distinguished on the basis of a phytosociological analysis (of the distribution, species composition and structure of the communities). That this division into zones was right has been proved by further detailed investigations of the phenology, condition, morphology and chemical composition of five dominant macrophyte species, and the field experiment. Obviously, by using such a method for the analysis more information, and more-detailed information was obtained, but the method is much more laborious than the phytosociological analysis. It appears, therefore, that for a quick assessment of the effect of pollution on an aquatic vegetation, e.g., in investigations based on monitoring, the phytosociological method is very useful. Klötzli and Grünig (1976) maintain that the morpho-anatomic characteristics, and the chemical composition of the plants can be used as an indicator of environment transformation. As can be concluded from the results analysed in the present paper, the various associations of macrophytes, and the different types of leaf lesions: chloroses and necroses, can also serve as indicators. Their advantage lies in the fact that they are easy to identify in the field (no additional laboratory techniques are required), whereas their disadvantage is that their sensitivity is too low, so they are of diagnostic value only when the transformation of the environment is of a considerable magnitude. In long-term observations the indicators of changes in the environment, due to the influence of sewage, are floristic changes. Apart from the results of the present study, the same conclusion is suggested by the data published by Forsberg (1964, 1965) and Suominen (1968).

The transformations of the submerged macrophytes (elimination and destruction), observed in heavily polluted habitats, indicate that their resistance to pollution is lower than that of the emergent macrophytes, which grow quite well even at high concentrations of municipal sewage and industrial effluents (Wolny 1962, Seidel 1965). This also shows that the possibility is limited of using submerged macrophytes as biological filters in the biological processes of the selfpurification of water.

I wish to express my cordial thanks to Professor Dr. Ewa Pieczyńska for the valuable and careful comments, and the time she kindly spent with me during the preparation of the present paper. I should like to extend my thanks also to my colleagues at the Department of Hydrobiology, Institute of Zoology, University of Warsaw, for the advice and assistance which they were kind enough to give me many a time.

## 10. SUMMARY

A determination was carried out of the transformations of littoral macrophytes under the influence of municipal sewage, discharged into five lakes of the Masurian Lakeland: Mikołajskie, Bełdany, Śniardwy, Tałty and Miłki.

On the basis of the degree of the changes in the chemistry of the waters of the littoral bordering upon built-up areas three types of site were distinguished: very slightly, slightly and heavily polluted. In Mikołajskie Lake, the most transformed littoral habitats were found in the part of the littoral which borders on the town Mikołajki (Table II).

At very slightly polluted sites (without any significant changes in the chemistry of the water) no differences were found in the species composition (Table III), or in the form of the macrophyte communities (Table IV, Fig. 4), and individual species, relative to the unpolluted sites.

At slightly polluted sites a considerable reduction in the number of species was found, especially of Characeae (Chara aspera, Ch. vulgaris, Ch. sp. and Nitellopsis obtusa) and Heleocharis acicularis, common in the unpolluted littoral (Table III). These species have been defined as sensitive to municipal pollution. In the remaining species, found at these sites, no differences in development (Fig. 10), condition (Fig. 11), morphology, biomass (Tables V-VII), or chemical composition (Table VIII) were found, as compared with the plants derived from unpolluted sites. Thus, the changes in the conditions, caused by the municipal sewage, are in this site group great enough to cause the elimination of the species which are very sensitive to the municipal sewage, but not great enough to cause transformations of the less sensitive plant species found there. The most changed vegetation was found at heavily polluted sites and with a clearly changed chemistry of the water. Apart from the elimination of certain species (the same as at the slightly polluted sites) a clear transformation was found of the plant communities (Table IV, Fig. 4) and of individual species; of their phenology (Fig. 10), condition (Fig. 11), morphology, biomass (Tables V-VII) and chemical composition (Table VIII). At these sites the following three zones, differing in the degree of submerged macrophyte transformation (Figs. 5-7), were distinguished: the elimination zone, degradation zone and the zone of macrophyte growth stimulation.

A field experiment has shown that high concentrations of municipal sewage cause a fast destruction of macrophytes, leading on to their elimination from the habitat.

In an analysis of the possibility to use submerged macrophytes as biological filters, a calculation was made to determine the amounts of macro- and microelements accumulated in the plants studied (Table IX). This estimation has been done for the submerged vegetation found in habitats with varying levels of pollution, and in an unpolluted site of the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake. It has been found that in the case of high concentrations of municipal sewage submerged macrophytes cannot play a significant role in the process of purification of the lake waters. Macrophytes would be able to play the role of filters if the amounts of municipal sewage discharged into the lake were small. In habitats with a considerable dilution of the sewage the plants grow exuberantly, attain high values of biomass, and, therefore, a considerable amount of elements is accumulated in them.

## 11. POLISH SUMMARY

Określono przekształcenia makrofitów litoralnych pod wpływem ścieków komunalnych dochodzących

#### do pięciu jezior Pojezierza Mazurskiego. Badania prowadzono w latach 1972-1974 w jeziorach: Mikołajskie,



Na podstawie stopnia przekształcenia chemizmu wód litoralu kontaktującego się z zabudowaniami wyróżniono trzy typy stanowisk: bardzo słabo, słabo i silnie zanieczyszczone. Najsilniej przekształcone środowiska litoralne stwierdzono w Jeziorze Mikołajskim w partii litoralu kontaktującej się z miastem Mikołajki (tab. II).

Na stanowiskach bardzo słabo zanieczyszczonych (o nie zmienionym istotnie chemizmie wody) nie stwierdzono różnic w składzie gatunkowym (tab. III), wykształceniu zbiorowisk makrofitów (tab. IV, rys. 4) i poszczególnych gatunków, w porównaniu ze stanowiskami nie zanieczyszczonymi.

Na stanowiskach słabo zanieczyszczonych stwierdzono znaczną redukcję liczby gatunków, przede wszystkim *Characeae* (*Chara aspera, Ch. vulgaris, Ch.* sp. i *Nitellopsis obtusa*) oraz *Heleocharis acicularis,* pospolicie występujących w litoralu nie zanieczyszczonym (tab. III). Gatunki te uznano za wrażliwe na zanieczyszczenia komunalne. U pozostałych występujących na tych stanowiskach gatunków nie stwierdzono różnic w ich rozwoju (rys. 10), kondycji (rys. 11), morfologii, biomasie (tab. V–VII) i składzie chemicznym (tab. VIII), w porównaniu z roślinami ze stanowisk nie zanieczyszczonych. Zmiany warunków powodowane przez ścieki komunalne są więc w tej grupie stanowisk na tyle duże, że powodują eliminację gatunków bardzo wrażliwych na zanieczyszczenia komunalne, lecz nie na tyle duże by powodować przekształcenia występujących tu mniej wrażliwych gatunków roślin.

Najbardziej zmienioną roślinność obserwowano na stanowiskach silnie zanieczyszczonych, wyraźnie przekształconych pod względem chemizmu wody. Poza eliminacją pewnych gatunków (tych samych jak na stanowiskach słabo zanieczyszczonych) stwierdzono wyraźne przekształcenia zbiorowisk (tab. IV, rys. 4) i poszczególnych gatunków makrofitów: ich fenologii (rys. 10), kondycji (rys. 11), morfologii, biomasy (tab. V–VII) i składu chemicznego (tab. VIII). Na stanowiskach tych wyróżniono trzy strefy o różnym stopniu przekształcenia makrofitów zanurzonych (rys. 5–7). Są to strefy: eliminacji, degradacji i stymulacji rozwoju makrofitów.

Na podstawie eksperymentu terenowego stwierdzono, że pod wpływem wysokich stężeń ścieków komunalnych makrofity ulegają w szybkim tempie destrukcji i są następnie eliminowane ze środowiska.

Analizując możliwość zastosowania makrofitów zanurzonych jako filtrów biologicznych, obliczono, ile w badanych roślinach zakumulowane jest makro- i mikroelementów (tab. IX). Oceny dokonano dla roślinności zanurzonej zasiedlającej środowiska o różnym stopniu zanieczyszczenia i nie zanieczyszczone litoralu Jeziora Mikołajskiego. Stwierdzono, że w przypadku wysokich stężeń ścieków komunalnych makrofity zanurzone nie mogą odegrać istotnej roli w procesie samooczyszczania wód jeziornych. Rolę filtrów makrofity zanurzone mogłyby spełniać przy dopływie niewielkich ilości ścieków komunalnych. W środowiskach o znacznym rozcieńczeniu ścieków rośliny rozwijają się bujnie, osiągają wysoką biomasę i tym samym zakumulowana jest w nich znaczna ilość pierwiastków.

36

## 12. REFERENCES

- Adams F. S., Mackenzie D. R., Cole H. Jr., Price M. W. 1971 The influence of nutrient pollution levels upon element constitution and morphology of *Elodea canadensis* – Environ. Pollut. 1: 285-298.
- 2. Allenby K. G. 1966 The manganese and calcium content of some aquatic plants and the water in which they grow Hydrobiologia, 27: 489-500.
- 3. Allenby K. G. 1968 Some analyses of aquatic plants and water Hydrobiologia, 32: 486-490.
- 4. Bernatowicz S. 1969 Macrophytes in lake Warniak and their chemical composition Ekol. pol. A, 17: 447-468.
- Bernatowicz S. 1973 Phenological seasons of the year in Lake Mikołajskie Acta Hydrobiol. 16: 365-377.
- 6. Bernatowicz S., Hillbricht-Ilkowska A., Kajak Z., Rybak J. I., Turczyńska J., Węgleńska T. 1974 – Charakterystyka limnologiczna jeziora Niegocin na tle postępującej eutrofizacji [Limnological description of Lake Niegocin against a progressing eutrophication] – Zesz. nauk. Akad. roln.-techn. Olsztyn, 3: 149-172.
- Bernatowicz S., Pieczyńska E. 1965 Organic matter production of macrophytes in lake Tałtowisko – Ekol. pol. A, 13: 113–124.

0. DUIMATOWICE D., IICCEYMORA D., ICAUEICI J. 1900 - DIOMAGO OF MACOP	acrophytes in lake
---	--------------------

Śniardwy - Bull. Acad. pol. Sci. Cl. II. Sér. Sci. biol. 16: 625-629.

- 9. Bernatowicz S., Radziej J. 1964 Produkcja roczna makrofitów w kompleksie jeziora Mamry [Annual production of the macrophytes in the complex of Lake Mamry] - Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 12: 307-348.
- 10. Bernatowicz S., Zachwieja J. 1966 Types of littoral found in lakes of the Masurian and Suwałki Lakelands - Ekol. pol. A, 14: 519-545.
- 11. Boyd C. E. 1968 Some aspects of aquatic plant ecology (In: Reservoir Fishery Resources Symposium) - Athens, Georgia, 114-129.
- 12. Boyd C. E. 1970a Vascular aquatic plants for mineral nutrient removal from polluted waters -Econ. Bot. 24: 95-103.
- 13. Boyd C. E. 1970b Chemical analyses of some vascular aquatic plants Arch. Hydrobiol. 67: 78-85.
- 14. Caines L. A. 1965 The phosphorus content of some aquatic macrophytes with special reference to seasonal fluctuations and applications of phosphate – Hydrobiologia, 25: 138–142.
- 15. Culley D. D. Jr., Epps E. A. 1973 Use of duckweed for waste treatment and animal feed J. Water Pollut. Control Federation, 45: 337-347.
- 16. Curtis O. F., Clarck D. G. 1958 Wstep do fizjologii roślin [An introduction to plant physiology ] - PWRiL, Warszawa, 812 pp.
- 17. Dąmbska I. 1961 Roślinne zbiorowiska jeziorne okolic Sierakowa i Międzychodu [Lake plant communities of the environs of Sieraków and Międzychód] - Pozn. Tow. Przyj. Nauk, Wydz. mat.-przyr. 23: 1-120.
- 18. Dambska I. 1965 Roślinność litoralu jezior lobeliowych Pojezierza Kartuskiego [Vegetation of the littoral of lobelia lakes in the Carthusian Lakeland ] - Pozn. Tow. Przyj. Nauk, Wydz. mat.-przyr., . Pr. Kom. biol. 30: 1-53.
- 19. Eloranta P. 1970 Pollution and aquatic flora of waters by sulphite cellulose factory at Mäntta, Finnish Lake District – Ann. Bot. Fenn. 7: 63-141.

- 20. Forsberg C. 1964 Phosphorus as maximum factor in the growth of Characeae Nature, Lond. 201: 517-518.
- 21. Forsberg C. 1965 Environmental conditions of Swedish charophytes Symb. bot. upsal. 18: 1-67.
- 22. Gerloff G. C., Krombholz P. H. 1966 Tissue analysis as a measure of nutrient availability for the growth of angiosperm aquatic plants - Limnol. Oceanogr. 11: 529-537.
- 23. Gorham E. 1953 Chemical studies on the soils and vegetation of water-logged habitats in English Lake District – J. Ecol. 41: 345–360.
- 24. Gorski T., Rybak J. I. 1974 Phosphorus run-off from the drainage basin to Mikołajskie Lake - Ekol. pol. 22: 275-286.
- 25. Harper H. J., Daniel H. A. 1934 Chemical composition of certain aquatic plants Bot. Gaz. 98: 186-189.
- 26. Hutchinson G. E. 1975 A treatise on limnology. III. Limnological botany John Wiley and Sons, New York, 660 pp.
- 27. Jackson M. L. 1958 Soil chemical analysis Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, 498 pp.
- 28. Just J., Hermanowicz W. 1964 Fizyczne i chemiczne badania wody do picia i potrzeb gospodarczych [Physical and chemical investigations on drinking and municipal waters] - PZWL, Warszawa, 311 pp.
- 29. Kajak Z., Hillbricht-Ilkowska A., Pieczyńska E. 1972 The production processes in several Polish lakes (In: Productivity problems of freshwaters, Eds. Z. Kajak, A. Hillbricht-Ilkowska) - PWN-Polish Scientific Publishers, Warszawa-Kraków, 129-147.
- 30. Katanskaja V. H. 1969 Sezonovye razvitie vodnoj rastitel'nosti w ozerach Karel'skogo pierešejka - Trudy Lab. Ozerov, 11: 151-158.
- 31. Kępczyński K. 1960 Zespoły roślinne jezior Skępskich i otaczających je łąk [Plant communities of Skępskie Lakes and of the surrounding meadows] - Study. Soc. Sci. torun., Suppl. 6: 1-244.
- 32. Kępczyński K. 1965 Szata roślinna Wysoczyzny Dobrzyńskiej [The vegetation cover of the Dobrzyńska Moraine Plateau ] – Wydawnictwa Uniw. Mikołaja Kopernika, Toruń, 325 pp.
- 33. Klötzli F., Grünig A. 1976 Seeufervegetation als Bioindikator. Zur Reaktion belasteter Seeufervegetation - Daten und Dokumente zum Umweltschutz, 19: 109-131.
- 34. Kowalczewski A. 1975 Periphyton primary production in the zone of submerged vegetation

of Mikołajskie Lake - Ekol. pol. 23: 509-543.

- 35. Kowalczewski A., Wasilewski L. 1966 Differentiation of biomass of Phragmites communis Trin. and its production in Mikołajskie Lake – Bull. Acad. pol. Sci. Cl. II. Sér. Sci. biol. 14: 219-223.
- 36. Kurimo U. 1970 Effect of pollution on aquatic macroflora of the Varkus area, Finnish Lake District Ann. Bot. Fenn. 7: 213-254.
- 37. Matuszkiewicz W. 1967 Przegląd systematyczny zbiorowisk roślinnych Polski [A taxonomic survey of the plant communities of Poland] [In: A.Scamoni Wstęp do fitosocjologii praktycznej (An introduction to applied phytosociology)] PWRiL, Warszawa, 175–229.
- 38. Miks L. 1954 Zvysime samočistici schopnost vodnich toku Čslké Ryb. 1: 234–256.
- 39. Mochnacka-Ławacz H. 1975 Description of the common reed (*Phragmites communis* Trin.) against habitat conditions, and its role in overgrowing of lakes Ekol. pol. 23: 545-571.
- 40. Nelson W. J., Palmer L. S. 1938 Nutritive value and general chemical composition of certain fresh-water plants of Minnesota. I. Nutritive value and general chemical composition of species of *Elodea, Myriophyllum, Vallisneria* and other aquatic plants Minn. agr. exp. Sta., Techn. Bull. 136: 1-34.
- 41. Oberdorfer E. 1957 Suddentsche Pflanzengesellschaften Pflanzensoziologie, 10: 1-564.
- 42. O z i m e k T., B a l c e r z a k D. 1976 Macrophytes (In: Selected problems of lake littoral ecology, Ed. E. Pieczyńska) – Wydawnictwa Uniwersytetu Warszawskiego, Warszawa, 33–53.
- 43. Ozimek T., Prejs A., Prejs K. 1976 Biomass and distribution of underground parts of *Potamogeton perfoliatus* L. and P. lucens L. Aquat. Bot. 2: 309-316.
- 44. Ozimek T., Sikorska U. 1975 Field experiment on the effect of municipal sewage on macrophytes and epifauna in the lake littoral Bull. Acad. pol. Sci. Cl. II. Sér. Sci. biol. 23: 447-455.
- 45. Ozimek T., Sikorska U. 1976 Influence of municipal sewage on littoral biocenosis (In: Selected problems of lake littoral ecology, Ed. E. Pieczyńska) – Wydawnictwa Uniwersytetu Warszawskiego, Warszawa, 181–193.

- 46. Petersburgski A. 1954 Ćwiczenia z chemii rolnej [Exercises in agricultural chemistry] PWRiL, Warszawa, 306 pp.
- 47. Pieczyńska E. 1972 Ecology of eulittoral zone of lakes Ekol. pol. 20: 637-732.
- 48. Pieczyńska E., Sikorska U., Ozimek T. 1975 Influence of domestic sewage on the littoral zone of lakes Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 22: 141–156.
- 49. Piper C. S. 1957 Analiza gleby i roślin [Soil and plant analysis] PWN, Warszawa, 420 pp.
- 50. Planter M. 1970 Physico-chemical properties of the water of reed-belts in Mikołajskie, Tałtowisko and Śniardwy lakes Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 17: 337–356.
- 51. Rybak J. I., Sikorska U. 1976 Environment (In: Selected problems of lake littoral ecology, Ed. E. Pieczyńska) – Wydawnictwa Uniwersytetu Warszawskiego, Warszawa, 7-26.
- Sculthorpe C. D. 1967 The biology of aquatic vascular plants Edward Arnold, London, 610 pp.
- 53. Seidel K. 1956 Wasserpflanzen als Akkumulatoren und ihre anatomisch-physiologische Anpassung
   Gewäss. Abwäss. 14: 42–51.
- 54. Seidel K. 1966 Biologischer Seenschutz Pflanzen als Wasserfilter Foederation Europaischer Gewasserschutz Symposium, 76: 357-359.
- 55. Soszka G. J. 1975 The invertebrates on submerged macrophytes in three Masurian lakes Ekol. pol. 23: 371-391.
- 56. Standard Methods for examination of water and wastewater, 1963 Am. Publ. Health Assoc., New York, 625 pp.
- 57. Suominen J. 1968 Changes in the aquatic macroflora in the polluted Lake Rautavesi, SW Finland Ann. Bot. Fenn. 5: 65–81.
- 58. Sutton D. L., Ornes W. H. 1975 Phosphorus removal from static sewage effluent using duckweed J. environ. Qual. 4: 367-370.
- 59. Szafer W., Zarzycki K. 1972 Szata roślinna Polski. I [The vegetation of Poland] PWN, Warszawa, 615 pp.
- 60. Szczepańska W. 1973 Production of helophytes in different types of lakes Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 20: 51-57.
- 61. Szczepański A. 1969 Biomass of underground parts of the reed Phragmites communis Trin. -

#### Bull. Acad. pol. Sci, Cl. II. Sér. Sci biol. 17: 245-246.

- 62. Tomaszewicz H. 1969 Roślinność wodna Jeziora Zegrzyńskiego [The aquatic vegetation of Zegrzyńskie Lake] Acta Soc. Bot. Pol. 38: 401-424.
- 63. Tüxen R. 1956 Die Pflanzengesellschaften Nordwest-Deutschlands Weigweiser durch die pflanzensoziologisch-systematische – Abteilung, Bremen, 356 pp.
- 64. Uotila P. 1971 Distribution and ecological features of hydrophytes in polluted Lake Vanajavesi, S. Finland Ann. Bot. Fenn. 8: 257-295.
- 65. Vollenweider R. A. 1969 A manual on methods for measuring primary production in aquatic environments Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford-Edinburgh, 244 pp.
- 66. Wolny P. 1962 Przydatność oczyszczonych ścieków do hodowli ryb [Usability of purified sewage for fish-culture] Roczn. Nauk. roln. 81-B-2: 231-249.
- 67. Wolverton B. C., McDonald R. C. 1975 Water hyacinths for upgrading sewage lagoons to meet advanced wastewater treatment standards: Part I – NASA Technical Memorandum. TM-X-72729.

Paper prepared by H. Dominas

AllSTRACT: Experiments were corrected out to follow the effect of organs/ fartikation on the property of an biophysic perime. "Startaneouslashie (Cree) The et Stead, Georgia organics (L.) Mahl., Typin Marfella L. I experimented L. Atomic reduction is and Schoologiccov Accestes (L.) Cala Liquid manage was found in zero a viring miniphery effect on the transpiretion of indephysics and when used as a 100% estudet is careful players to will within a sheet there. As a reach of transpiretion of 25% liquid manage, the helephysics article less verse to produce there blowers. Following the transpiretion is represented in the plants under the start of produce there blowers. Following the transpiretion is a start of the plants under miniphers of a distribution beet there blowers. Following the

Manna ( Charles Starts

Contents

Interestational
 Remain
 Remain
 Dimension

Screnning

Tobas strassery

Reputer Cos

. INTRODUCTIO

is connection with the intervaluation of agriculture in the Massima Lakeland area the success of commercial (mmercia) and organic fortulates used in couplicity of the margin of the sources are the components are completed by projection without with respondent and ground without and her one